GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC

Form 10-Q August 03, 2017

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-16111

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in charter)
Georgia 58-2567903
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
3550 Lenox Road, Atlanta, Georgia 30326
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (770) 829-8000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer", "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

The number of shares of the issuer's common stock, no par value, outstanding as of July 31, 2017 was 152,488,772.

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

FORM 10-Q

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I -	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016	<u>3</u>
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016	<u>5</u>
	Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2017 (unaudited) and December 31, 2016	<u>6</u>
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016	7
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and	_
	2016	<u>8</u>
	Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	9
ITEM 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>23</u>
ITEM 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>33</u>
ITEM 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>33</u>
PART II -	OTHER INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>34</u>
ITEM 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>34</u>
ITEM 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	<u>35</u>
ITEM 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>36</u>
	<u>Signatures</u>	<u>37</u>

Table of Contents

PART 1 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Mor June 30, 2017	June 30, 2016
Revenues	\$962,240	\$842,644
Operating expenses:		
Cost of service	469,149	406,873
Selling, general and administrative	361,239	374,610
	830,388	781,483
Operating income	131,852	61,161
Interest and other income	1,832	42,565
Interest and other expense	(48,361)	(36,597)
	(46,529)	5,968
Income before income taxes	85,323	67,129
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes	(12,880)	4
Net income	72,443	67,133
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of income tax	(5,534)	(4,900)
Net income attributable to Global Payments	\$66,909	\$62,233
Earnings per share attributable to Global Payments:		
Basic earnings per share	\$0.44	\$0.42
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.44	\$0.42
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (in thousands, except per share data)

	Six Months Ended	
	June 30, June 30	
	2017	2016
D	¢1 002 002	¢1.469.004
Revenues	\$1,882,002	\$1,468,904
Operating expenses:		
Cost of service	925,085	655,060
Selling, general and administrative	720,095	658,110
	1,645,180	1,313,170
Operating income	236,822	155,734
Interest and other income	3,439	43,847
Interest and other expense	(89,658)	(49,672)
	(86,219)	(5,825)
Income before income taxes	150,603	149,909
Provision for income taxes	(25,201)	(19,329)
Net income	125,402	130,580
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of income tax	(9,679)	(8,436)
Net income attributable to Global Payments	\$115,723	\$122,144
Earnings per share attributable to Global Payments:		
Basic earnings per share	\$0.76	\$0.88
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.75	\$0.87
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (in thousands)

	Three Mon June 30, 2017	ths Ended June 30, 2016
Net income Other comprehensive income (loss):	\$72,443	\$67,133
Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of unrealized losses on hedging activities to net income Income tax benefit related to hedging activities Other Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	57,172 — (3,382) 1,897 661 3 56,351	(55,173) 9,066 (5,276) 1,925 1,261 (826) (49,023)
Comprehensive income Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests Comprehensive income attributable to Global Payments	128,794 (17,535) \$111,259	
	Six Month June 30, 2017	s Ended June 30, 2016
Net income Other comprehensive income (loss):	\$125,402	\$130,580
Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments	91,508 —	(10,953) 5,816
Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of unrealized losses on hedging activities to net income Income tax (provision) benefit related to hedging activities	3,493 (249)	(16,094) 3,880 4,569
Other Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	(214)	(826)
1 "	91,983	(13,608)

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

	June 30, 2017	December 31, 2016
	(Unaudited)	2010
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,080,576	\$1,162,779
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of \$1,295 and \$1,092	283,640	275,032
respectively	203,040	213,032
Claims receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of \$6,616 and \$5,786,	4,513	8,202
respectively		•
Settlement processing assets	999,946	1,546,854
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	147,396	123,139
Total current assets	2,516,071	3,116,006
Goodwill	4,890,016	4,807,594
Other intangible assets, net	1,927,167	2,085,292
Property and equipment, net	537,879	526,370
Deferred income taxes	16,388	15,789
Other noncurrent assets	149,260	113,299
Total assets	\$10,036,781	\$10,664,350
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Settlement lines of credit	\$318,284	\$392,072
Current portion of long-term debt	86,510	177,785
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	823,236	804,887
Settlement processing obligations	870,434	1,477,212
Total current liabilities	2,098,464	2,851,956
Long-term debt	4,175,411	4,260,827
Deferred income taxes	617,308	676,472
Other noncurrent liabilities	140,960	95,753
Total liabilities	7,032,143	7,885,008
Commitments and contingencies		
Equity:		
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and none issued		_
Common stock, no par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 152,556,769 issued and		
outstanding at June 30, 2017 and 152,185,616 issued and outstanding at December 31,		
2016	1 020 000	1 017 070
Paid-in capital	1,838,889	1,816,278
Retained earnings	1,255,552	1,137,230
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(243,459)	(322,717)
Total Global Payments shareholders' equity	2,850,982	2,630,791
Noncontrolling interests	153,656	148,551
Total equity Total liabilities and equity	3,004,638	2,779,342
Total liabilities and equity	\$10,036,781	\$10,664,350
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities: June 30, 2016 Cash flows from operating activities: 1,25,402 \$130,580 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 5,1197 40,079 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 15,1197 40,079 Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 16,117 87,675 Share-based compensation expense 12,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,710 Deferred income taxes 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes 3,603 19,719 0 Gain on sale of investments 17,057 8,901 14,150 0 Chains receivable (4,911 1,982 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1,085 1 1		Six Months	s F	Ended	
Cash flows from operating activities: Net income \$125,402 \$130,580 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: \$1,197 40,079 Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 51,197 40,079 Amortization of acquired intangibles 165,117 87.57 Share-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 19,681 33,52 Deferred income taxes (38,603) 19,719 0 Deferred income taxes (38,603) 19,719 0 Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) 0 Other, net (4901) 8,901 0 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4(4901) 8,907 Claims receivable (11,335) 10,0854 1 Claims receivable (44,901) 43,040 1 Claims receivable (44,911) (49,011) 44,301 2 10,2012 1 Claims receivable (44,911) (44,351) (20,127)<					
Net income \$125,402 \$130,580 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 40,079 Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 51,197 40,079 Amortization of acquired intangibles 165,117 87,675 Share-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,720 Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603 (19,719) 0 Gain on sale of investments - (41,150) 0 Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: (44,901) 8,907 Claims receivable (11,335) 10,0854) Claims receivable (11,335) 143,901) Claims receivable (11,335) 143,901) Claims receivable (11,335) 147,904) Capital expenditures (26,861) 447,901) <		2017		2016	
Net income \$125,402 \$130,580 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 40,079 Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 51,197 40,079 Amortization of acquired intangibles 165,117 87,675 Share-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,720 Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603 (19,719) 6,310 Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: (49,901 8,907 Claims receivable (11,335 10,0854 1 Claims receivable (11,335 14,307 1 Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (36,523 1 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets (44,431 2(20,127 1 Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,435) 2(20,127 1 Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452	Cash flows from operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 51,197 40,079 Amortization of acquired intangibles 165,117 87,675 58nare-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 17,373 17,372 17,373 17,372 17,373 17		\$125,402		\$130,580	\mathbf{C}
Amortization of acquired intangibles 165,117 87,675 Share-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603) (19,719) Gain on sale of investments	Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:				
Share-based compensation expense 21,153 17,372 Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,720 Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603) (19,719) Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: (4,901 8,807 Claims receivable (4,901 8,807 18,807 Claims receivable (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capital expensa yable and other liabilities (25,46) 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (26,806) 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — (1,826,657 Capital expenditures <td>Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment</td> <td>51,197</td> <td></td> <td>40,079</td> <td></td>	Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment	51,197		40,079	
Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,720 Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603) (19,719) Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4,901) 8,907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10,854) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194) Net cash provided by operating activities (25,852) 61,194 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — (1,826,657 Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910)	Amortization of acquired intangibles	165,117		87,675	
Provision for operating losses and bad debts 25,940 16,720 Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603) (19,719) Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4,901 \$8,907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10,854) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194) Net cash provided by operating activities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities (89,958 (62,910) Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657 Capital expenditures (89,958 (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 7 Other, net (34,242) (370	Share-based compensation expense	21,153		17,372	
Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs 19,681 3,352 Deferred income taxes (38,603 (19,719 Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4(4901 8,907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10,854) Claims receivable (63,523) 14,307 Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127 Net cash provided by operating activities 256,8061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910 Net cash provided by operating activities (89,958) (62,910 Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — (1,826,657 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from financing activi		25,940		16,720	
Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4(4,901 8,907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10,854) Claims receivable (63,523) 14,307 Ptepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910) Rusiness acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) 7 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,177 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 57 Other, net (86,703) (1,852,163) (88,490) (97,652) Net cash used in investing activities (88,490) (97,652) 1 Cash flows from financing activities (88,490) (97,652) 1 Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652)	Amortization of capitalized customer acquisition costs	19,681		3,352	
Gain on sale of investments — (41,150) Other, net 17,057 8,901 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4(4,901 8,907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10,854) Claims receivable (63,523) 14,307 Ptepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910) Rusiness acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) 7 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,177 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 57 Other, net (86,703) (1,852,163) (88,490) (97,652) Net cash used in investing activities (88,490) (97,652) 1 Cash flows from financing activities (88,490) (97,652) 1 Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652)	Deferred income taxes	(38,603)	(19,719)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: 4(.901) 8.907 Accounts receivable (11,335) (10.854) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63.523) (14.307) Prepaid expenses and other assets 30.679 (47.940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44.351) (20.127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61.194 Net cash provided by operating activities 249.297 Cash flows from investing activities: *** Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826.657) Capital expenditures (89.958) (62.910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37.717 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37.717 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flow from financing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Vet payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97.652) Proceeds from long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448)	Gain on sale of investments				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions: Accounts receivable (4,901 5,8907 Claims receivable (11,335 1(10,854 5) (10,854 5) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,051 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities: *** Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (1,082,898) (80,993) Proceed	Other, net	17,057		8,901	
Accounts receivable (4,901 8,907 Claims receivable (11,335 1(1,854) Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities 368,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (89,958) (62,910) Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash gray from financing activities (88,490) (97,652) Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652)					
Settlement processing assets and obligations, net (63,523) 14,307 Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities: 368,061 249,297 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities: (88,490) (97,652) Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (90,2324) (3047,052) Repayments of long-term debt (90,2324) (3047,052) Repayments of long-term debt (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188	· · ·	(4,901)	8,907	
Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,679 (47,940) Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351) (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities: 1 (1,826,657) Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans (418) (337) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374	Claims receivable	(11,335)	(10,854)
Capitalized customer acquisition costs (44,351 (20,127) Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452 61,194) Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities 88,065 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities (1,826,657) Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958 (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment (34,242) (370) Otter, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans (418) (3	Settlement processing assets and obligations, net	(63,523)	14,307	
Accounts payable and other liabilities (25,452) 61,194 Net cash provided by operating activities 268,061 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities: 3 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities: (88,490) (97,652) Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt (902,324) (3047,052) Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 (60,000) Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 (70,000) Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 (70,000) Dividends paid (3,51) (2,837)	Prepaid expenses and other assets	30,679		(47,940)
Net cash provided by operating activities: 249,297 Cash flows from investing activities: 31,826,657 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370)) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities: (88,490) (97,652) Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) 9 Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) 9 Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) 8 Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337) 9 Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) </td <td>Capitalized customer acquisition costs</td> <td>(44,351</td> <td>)</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Capitalized customer acquisition costs	(44,351)		
Cash flows from investing activities: Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370)) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities: (88,490) (97,652)) Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652)) Proceeds from long-term debt (9,2324) (3,047,052) 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933)) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448)) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836)) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337)) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests — 16,374 Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by fin	Accounts payable and other liabilities	(25,452)	61,194	
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,826,657) Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910)) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370)) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities: ** Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337)) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740)) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837)) Net (used in) provided by financing activ	Net cash provided by operating activities	268,061		249,297	
Capital expenditures (89,958) (62,910) Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities: *** Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 27,388 (5,582) (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the peri	Cash flows from investing activities:				
Proceeds from sale of investments — 37,717 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities: Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Ne	Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired	_		(1,826,65	57)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 37,497 57 Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163 Cash flows from financing activities: *** Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate c	Capital expenditures	(89,958)	(62,910)
Other, net (34,242) (370) Net cash used in investing activities (86,703) (1,852,163) Cash flows from financing activities: *** Net payments on settlement lines of credit (88,490) (97,652) Proceeds from long-term debt 902,324 3,047,052 Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans 6,188 2,424 Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans (418) (337) Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest — 16,374 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 27,388 (5,582) (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 1,162,779 587,751 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period \$1,080,576 \$988,370	Proceeds from sale of investments			37,717	
Net cash used in investing activities Cash flows from financing activities: Net payments on settlement lines of credit Proceeds from long-term debt Repayments of long-term debt Repayment of debt issuance costs Repurchase of common stock Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period (88,490) (97,652) (88,490) (97,652) (97,652) (1,082,898) (809,933) (1,082,898) (809,93	Proceeds from sales of property and equipment	37,497		57	
Cash flows from financing activities: Net payments on settlement lines of credit Repayments on long-term debt Repayments of long-term debt Repayment of debt issuance costs Repurchase of common stock Repurchase of common stock Repurchase of stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (88,490) (97,652) (90,324 3,047,052 (1,082,898) (809,933) (80,933) (82,836) (82,424) (83,77) (84,87) (84,80) (84,	Other, net	(34,242)	(370)
Net payments on settlement lines of credit Proceeds from long-term debt Repayments of long-term debt (1,082,898) (809,933) Payment of debt issuance costs (9,461) (58,448) Repurchase of common stock (5,342) (82,836) Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Proceeds from stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (3,576) \$988,370	Net cash used in investing activities	(86,703)	(1,852,16	53
Proceeds from long-term debt Repayments of long-term debt Repayment of debt issuance costs Repurchase of common stock Repurchase of common stock Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (1,082,898) (809,933) (9,461) (5,8448) (62,342) (82,836) (73,774) (74,740) (74,	Cash flows from financing activities:				
Repayments of long-term debt Payment of debt issuance costs Repurchase of common stock Repurchase of common stock Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes on cash Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (1,082,898) (809,933) (9,461) (58,448) (6,188) (418) (337) (418) (337) (9,301) (4,740) (9,301) (4,740) (9,301) (4,740) (2,837) (290,949) 2,009,067 (290,949) 2,009,067 (290,949) 2,009,067 (290,949) 3,000,619 (1,162,779) 587,751 (290,949) 587,751 (290,949) 588,370	Net payments on settlement lines of credit	(88,490)	(97,652)
Payment of debt issuance costs Repurchase of common stock Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (9,461) (58,448) (62,342) (82,836) (418) (337) (418) (337) (4740) (9,301) (4,740) (9,301) (4,740) (290,949) 2,009,067 (290,949) 2,009,067 (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period \$1,162,779 587,751	Proceeds from long-term debt	902,324		3,047,05	2
Repurchase of common stock Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (5,342 (6,188 (418 (418 (9,307 (9,301 (9,301 (9,301 (3,551 (2,837 (290,949 (290,949 (290,949 (290,949 (290,949 (3,552 (290,949 (290,949 (3,552 (3,582	Repayments of long-term debt	(1,082,898)	(809,933)
Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests Dividends paid Net (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period 6,188 2,424 (418) (337) (9,301) (4,740) (3,551) (2,837) (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 1,162,779 587,751 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period \$1,080,576 \$988,370	Payment of debt issuance costs	(9,461)	(58,448)
Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (3,551) (2,837) (1,2		(5,342)	(82,836)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (3,551) (2,837) (290,949) 2,009,067 (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (81,203) 400,619 (82,203) 400,619 (83,576) 587,751	Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans	6,188		2,424	
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (9,301) (4,740) Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (5,582) (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (82,779 587,751) Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period (\$1,162,779 \$988,370)	Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans	(418)	(337)
Dividends paid (3,551) (2,837) Net (used in) provided by financing activities (290,949) 2,009,067 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (5,582) (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (82,203) 400,619 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (1,162,779) 587,751 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period (\$1,080,576) \$988,370	Proceeds from sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest	_		16,374	
Net (used in) provided by financing activities(290,949) 2,009,067Effect of exchange rate changes on cash27,388 (5,582)(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents(82,203) 400,619Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period1,162,779 587,751Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period\$1,080,576 \$988,370		(9,301)	(4,740)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period (B2,203) 400,619 (B2,203) 400,619 (B2,779) 587,751 (Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period) \$1,080,576 \$988,370	Dividends paid	(3,551)	(2,837)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents(82,203) 400,619Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period1,162,779 587,751Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period\$1,080,576 \$988,370	Net (used in) provided by financing activities	(290,949)	2,009,06	7
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 1,162,779 587,751 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period \$1,080,576 \$988,370	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	27,388		(5,582)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period \$1,080,576 \$988,370	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)	400,619	
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		\$1,080,576	,	\$988,370	\mathbf{C}
	See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.				

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (in thousands)

	Number of Shares	Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensiv Loss	Payments	Noncontrolli	ng Total Equit	ty
Balance at December 31, 2016	152,186	\$1,816,278	\$1,137,230	\$ (322,717)	\$2,630,791	\$ 148,551	\$2,779,342	2
Net income			115,723		115,723	9,679	125,402	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax				79,258	79,258	12,725	91,983	
Stock issued under share-based compensation plans	445	6,188			6,188		6,188	
Common stock repurchased - share-based	(9) (758)		(758)	(758)
compensation plans Share-based compensation expense		21,153			21,153		21,153	
Dissolution of a subsidiary			7,998		7,998	(7,998)	. —	
Distributions to noncontrolling interest					_	(9,301)	(9,301)
Repurchase of common stock	(65	(3,972	(1,848))	(5,820)	(5,820)
Dividends paid (\$0.02133 per share)			(3,551)	(3,551)	(3,551)
Balance at June 30, 2017	152,557	\$1,838,889	\$1,255,552	\$ (243,459)	\$2,850,982	\$ 153,656	\$3,004,638	3
	Number of Shares	Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensiv Loss	Payments	Noncontrolli	ng Total Equit	ty
Balance at December 31, 2015	129,274	\$133,345	\$943,879	\$ (247,190)	\$830,034	\$ 112,176	\$942,210	
Net income			122,144		122,144	8,436	130,580	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	x			(18,195)	(18,195	4,587	(13,608)
Stock issued under employee stock plans Common stock	143	2,424			2,424		2,424	
repurchased - share-based compensation plans	(9) (640)		(640)	(640)

Tax benefit from employee share-based compensation plans	1,368		1,368			1,368	
Share-based compensation expense	17,372		17,372			17,372	
Issuance of common stock in connection with 25,644 a business combination	1,879,458		1,879,458			1,879,458	ı
Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interest			_	48,161		48,161	
Contribution of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest related to a business combination	(820)	(820) (3,925)	(4,745)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest			_	(4,740)	(4,740)
Penurchase of common) (82,982) 146	(82,836)		(82,836)
Dividends paid (\$0.02 per share)		(2,837)	(2,837)		(2,837)
Balance at June 30, 2016 153,721			5) \$2,747,47	2 \$ 164,695		\$2,912,16	7
See Notes to Unaudited Consolid	dated Financia	al Statements.					

Table of Contents

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business, consolidation and presentation— We are a leading worldwide provider of payment technology services delivering innovative solutions to our customers globally. Our technologies and employee expertise enable us to provide a broad range of services that allow our customers to accept various payment types. We distribute our services across a variety of channels to customers in 30 countries throughout North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and Brazil and operate in three reportable segments: North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific.

We were incorporated in Georgia as Global Payments Inc. in 2000 and spun-off from our former parent company in 2001. Including our time as part of our former parent company, we have been in the payment technology services business since 1967. Global Payments Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred to collectively as "Global Payments," the "Company," "we," "our" or "us," unless the context requires otherwise.

These unaudited consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our majority-owned subsidiaries, and all intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") for interim financial information pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 was derived from the audited financial statements included in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016 but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP for annual financial statements. As a result of the change in our fiscal year end from May 31 to December 31, we presented our interim financial information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 on the basis of the new fiscal year for comparative purposes.

In the opinion of our management, all known adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the interim periods have been made. These adjustments consist of normal recurring accruals and estimates that affect the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016.

Use of estimates— The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting." The amendments in this update changed how companies account for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. We adopted the various amendments in ASU 2016-09 in our unaudited consolidated financial statements effective January 1, 2017 with no material effect. On a prospective basis, as required, we recognize the income tax effects of the excess benefits or deduction deficiencies of share-based awards in the statement of income when the awards vest or are settled. Previously, these amounts were recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. In addition, these excess tax benefits or deduction deficiencies from share-based compensation plans, which were previously presented as a financing activity in our consolidated statement of cash flows, are now presented as an operating activity using a retrospective transition method for all periods presented. Finally, we have elected to account for forfeitures of share-based awards with service conditions as they occur.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments," which makes clarifications to how cash receipts and cash payments in certain transactions are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. We adopted ASU 2016-15 on a retrospective basis effective January 1, 2017 with no effect on our unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows for any period presented.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, "Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment." The ASU eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. In computing the implied fair value of

Table of Contents

goodwill under Step 2, an entity had to perform procedures to determine the fair value at the impairment testing date of its assets and liabilities (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) following the procedure that would be required in determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Instead, under the amendments in this ASU, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. We adopted ASU 2017-04 on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2017. The adoption of this standard had no effect on our unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Accounting Standard Codification ("ASC") 606 - New Revenue Standard

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP and permits the use of either the retrospective or modified retrospective transition method. The update requires significant additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments. ASU 2014-09, as amended by ASU 2015-14, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date," is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods, with early adoption permitted for years beginning after December 15, 2016. Since the issuance of ASU 2014-09, the FASB has issued additional interpretive guidance, including new accounting standards updates, that clarifies certain points of the standard and modifies certain requirements.

We have performed a review of the requirements of the new revenue standard and are monitoring the activity of the FASB and the transition resource group as it relates to specific interpretive guidance. We have established a cross-functional implementation team to assess the effects of the new revenue standard in a multi-phase approach. In the first phase, we analyzed customer contracts for our most significant contract categories, applied the five-step model of the new standard to each contract category and compared the results to our current accounting practices. We have begun the second phase, which includes quantifying the potential effects identified during the first phase, assessing additional contract categories and principal agent considerations, revising accounting policies and considering the effects on related disclosures and/or internal control over financial reporting.

The new standard could change the amount and timing of revenue and expenses to be recognized under certain of our arrangement types. In addition, it could also increase the administrative burden on our operations to properly account for customer contracts and provide the more expansive required disclosures. More judgment and estimates may be required within the process of applying the requirements of the new standard than are required under existing GAAP, such as identifying performance obligations in contracts, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in transaction price, allocating transaction price to each separate performance obligation and estimating expected customer lives. We have not completed our assessment or quantified the effect, if any, the new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements, related disclosures and/or our internal control over financial reporting. This will occur during the design and implementation phases over the remainder of the calendar year. However, our preliminary view is that we expect the amount and timing of revenue to be recognized under ASU 2014-09 for our most significant contract category, core payment services, will be similar to the amount and timing of revenue recognized under our current accounting practices. We also expect to be required to capitalize additional costs to obtain contracts with customers, and, in some cases, may be required to amortize these costs and costs that we currently capitalize

(such as capitalized customer acquisition costs) over a longer time period. Finally, we expect disclosures about our revenues and related customer acquisition costs will be more extensive.

We plan to adopt ASU 2014-09, as well as other clarifications and technical guidance issued by the FASB related to this new revenue standard, on January 1, 2018. We will likely apply the modified retrospective transition method, which would result in an adjustment to retained earnings for the cumulative effect, if any, of applying the standard to contracts that are not completed at the date of initial application. Under this method, we would not restate the prior financial statements presented, therefore the new standard requires us to provide additional disclosures of the amount by which each financial statement line item is affected in the current reporting period during 2018, as compared to the guidance that was in effect before the change, and an explanation of the reasons for significant changes, if any.

Table of Contents

Other Accounting Standards Updates

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, "Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business." The ASU clarifies the definition of a business, which affects many areas of accounting including acquisitions, disposals, goodwill and consolidation. The new standard is intended to help companies and other organizations evaluate whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses, with the expectation that fewer will qualify as acquisitions (or disposals) of businesses. The ASU will become effective for us on January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted for certain transactions that occur before the effective date. We are evaluating the effect of ASU 2017-01 on our consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory." The amendments in this update state that an entity should recognize the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory, such as intellectual property and property and equipment, when the transfer occurs. The amendments in this update will become effective for us on January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual reporting period for which financial statements (interim or annual) have not been issued. The amendments in this update should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. We are evaluating the effect of ASU 2016-16 on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial instruments." The amendments in this update change how companies measure and recognize credit impairment for many financial assets. The new expected credit loss model will require companies to immediately recognize an estimate of credit losses expected to occur over the remaining life of the financial assets (including trade receivables) that are in the scope of the update. The update also made amendments to the current impairment model for held-to-maturity and available-for-sale debt securities and certain guarantees. The guidance will become effective for us on January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. We are evaluating the effect of ASU 2016-13 on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases." The amendments in this update require lessees to recognize, on the balance sheet, assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases. In addition, several new disclosures will be required. Although early adoption is permitted, we expect to adopt ASU 2016-02 when it becomes effective for us on January 1, 2019. Adoption will require a modified retrospective transition where the lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented. We have not completed our evaluation of the effect of ASU 2016-02 on our consolidated financial statements; however, we expect to recognize right of use assets and liabilities for our operating leases in the balance sheet upon adoption.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities." The amendments in this update address certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. The amendments in this update supersede the guidance to classify equity securities with readily determinable fair values into different categories (that is, trading or available-for-sale) and require equity securities (including other ownership interests, such as partnerships, unincorporated joint ventures and limited liability companies) to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through earnings. Equity investments that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting or result in consolidation of an investee are not included within the scope of this update. The amendments allow equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values to be remeasured at fair value either upon the occurrence of an observable price change or upon identification of an impairment. The amendments also require enhanced disclosures about those investments. The guidance will become effective for us on January 1, 2018. Except for specific aspects of this pronouncement, early adoption of the amendments in this update is not permitted. We are evaluating the effect of ASU 2016-01 on our consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

NOTE 2—ACQUISITIONS

Heartland

We merged with Heartland Payment Systems, Inc. ("Heartland") in a cash-and-stock transaction on April 22, 2016 for total purchase consideration of \$3.9 billion. The following table summarizes the components of the consideration transferred on April 22, 2016 (in thousands):

Cash consideration paid to Heartland stockholders	\$2,043,362
Fair value of Global Payments common stock issued to Heartland stockholders	1,879,458
Total purchase consideration	\$3,922,820

December 31, 2016

This transaction was accounted for as a business combination, which requires that we record the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value as of the acquisition date. The estimated acquisition-date fair values of major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed previously determined as of December 31, 2016 and as subsequently revised, including a reconciliation to the total purchase consideration, are as follows: Measurement-Period Final

Adjustments

	(in thousand	s)		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$304,747	\$	_	\$304,747
Accounts receivable	70,385			70,385
Prepaid expenses and other assets	103,090	(5,131)	97,959
Identified intangible assets	1,639,040			1,639,040
Property and equipment	106,583			106,583
Debt	(437,933)			(437,933)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(457,763)	(65)	(457,828)
Settlement processing obligations	(36,578)	(3,727)	(40,305)
Deferred income taxes	(518,794)	18,907		(499,887)
Other liabilities	(64,938)	(33,495)	(98,433)
Total identifiable net assets	707,839	(23,511)	684,328
Goodwill	3,214,981	23,511		3,238,492
Total purchase consideration	\$3,922,820	\$	_	\$3,922,820

The measurement-period adjustments were the result of continued refinement of certain estimates, particularly regarding certain tax positions and deferred income taxes.

Goodwill of \$3.2 billion arising from the merger, included in the North America segment, was attributable to expected growth opportunities, potential synergies from combining our existing businesses and an assembled workforce, and is not deductible for income tax purposes. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we incurred transaction costs in connection with the merger of \$22.3 million and \$24.7 million, respectively, which are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

Table of Contents

The following reflects the estimated fair values of the identified intangible assets and the respective weighted-average estimated amortization periods:

> Estimated Weighted-Average Estimated Amortization Periods Fair Values (in

(years) thousands) \$977,400 15 Customer-related intangible assets Acquired technology 457,000 5 Trademarks and trade names 176,000 7 Covenants-not-to-compete 28,640 1 Total estimated acquired intangible assets \$1,639,040 11

NOTE 3—SETTLEMENT PROCESSING ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, settlement processing assets and obligations consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31, 2017 2016 (in thousands) Settlement processing assets: Interchange reimbursement \$292,935 \$150,612 (Liability to) receivable from members (138,825) 71,590 Receivable from networks 855,021 1,325,029 **Exception items** 6,731 6,450 Merchant reserves (15,916) (6,827 \$999,946 \$1,546,854 Settlement processing obligations:

Interchange reimbursement	\$67,467	\$199,202	
Liability to members	(17,468)	(177,979)
Liability to merchants	(768,353)	(1,358,271)
Exception items	7,531	21,194	
Merchant reserves	(154,826)	(158,419)
Reserve for operating losses and sales allowances	(4,785)	(2,939)
	\$(870,434)	\$(1,477,212)

Table of Contents

NOTE 4—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, goodwill and other intangible assets consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2017 2016

(in thousands)

Goodwill \$4,890,016 \$4,807,594

Other intangible assets:

 Customer-related intangible assets
 \$1,872,300
 \$1,864,731

 Acquired technologies
 559,251
 547,151

 Trademarks and trade names
 189,683
 188,311

 Contract-based intangible assets
 160,852
 157,882

 2,782,086
 2,758,075

Less accumulated amortization:

Customer-related intangible assets 583,743 487,729
Acquired technologies 147,742 89,633
Trademarks and trade names 37,797 24,142
Contract-based intangible assets 85,637 71,279
854,919 672,783

\$1,927,167 \$2,085,292

The following table sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2017:

North America Europe Asia-Pacific Total

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2016	\$4,083,252	\$455,300	\$ 269,042	\$4,807,594
Effect of foreign currency translation	2,693	34,989	14,199	51,881
Measurement-period adjustments	23,511		7,030	30,541
Balance at June 30, 2017	\$4,109,456	\$490,289	\$ 290.271	\$4.890.016

There was no accumulated impairment loss as of June 30, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

NOTE 5—OTHER ASSETS

Through certain of our subsidiaries in Europe, we were a member and shareholder of Visa Europe Limited ("Visa Europe"). On June 21, 2016, Visa Inc. ("Visa") acquired all of the membership interests in Visa Europe, including ours, upon which we recorded a gain of \$41.2 million included in interest and other income in our consolidated statements of income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016. We received up-front consideration comprised of €33.5 million (\$37.7 million equivalent at June 21, 2016) in cash and Series B and C convertible preferred shares whose initial conversion rate equates to Visa common shares valued at \$22.9 million as of June 21, 2016. However, the preferred shares were assigned a value of zero based on transfer restrictions, Visa's ability to adjust the conversion rate, and the estimation uncertainty associated with those factors. Based on the outcome of potential litigation involving Visa Europe in the United Kingdom and elsewhere in Europe, the conversion rate of the preferred shares could be adjusted down such that the number of Visa common shares we ultimately receive could be as low as zero, and approximately €25.6 million (\$28.8 million equivalent at June 21, 2016) of the up-front cash consideration could

be refundable. On the third anniversary of the closing of the acquisition by Visa, we will also receive ≤ 3.1 million (\$3.5 million equivalent at June 21, 2016) of deferred consideration (plus compounded interest at a rate of 4.0% per annum).

Table of Contents

NOTE 6—LONG-TERM DEBT AND LINES OF CREDIT

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, long-term debt consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2017 2016

(in thousands)

Corporate credit facility:

Term loans (face amounts of \$3,980,316 and \$3,728,857 at June 30, 2017 and December

31, 2016, respectively, less unamortized debt issuance costs of \$42,399 and \$46,282 at June \$3,937,917 \$3,682,575 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively)

, , , <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		
Revolving Credit Facility	324,000	756,000
Capital lease obligations	4	37
Total long-term debt	4,261,921	4,438,612

Less current portion of corporate credit facility (face amounts of \$95,279 and \$187,274 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, less unamortized debt issuance costs of \$8,773 and \$9,526 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively) and current

86,510 portion of capital lease obligations of \$4 and \$37 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016,

respectively

Long-term debt, excluding current portion

\$4,175,411 \$4,260,827

177,785

Maturity requirements on long-term debt as of June 30, 2017 by year are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

	- ,
2017	\$47,644
2018	108,979
2019	141,912
2020	161,144
2021	180,376
2022	2,580,390
2023 and thereafter	1,083,875
Total	\$4,304,320

We are party to a credit facility agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and other agents (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Facility Agreement"). On May 2, 2017, we entered into the Fourth Amendment to the Credit Facility Agreement (the "Fourth Amendment"), which increased the total financing capacity available under the Credit Facility Agreement to \$5.2 billion; however, the aggregate outstanding debt under the Credit Facility Agreement did not change as we repaid certain outstanding amounts under the Term A Loan, the Term A-2 Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility (each as defined below) in connection with the Fourth Amendment. As of June 30, 2017, the Credit Facility Agreement provided for secured financing comprised of (i) a \$1.5 billion term loan (the "Term A Loan"), (ii) a \$1.3 billion term loan (the "Term A-2 Loan"), (iii) a \$1.2 billion term loan facility, (the "Term B-2 Loan") and (iv) a \$1.25 billion revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). Substantially all of the assets of our domestic subsidiaries are pledged as collateral under the Credit Facility Agreement.

The Credit Facility Agreement provides for an interest rate, at our election, of either London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or a base rate, in each case plus a leverage-based margin. As of June 30, 2017, the interest rates on the Term A Loan, the Term A-2 Loan and the Term B-2 Loan were 2.98%, 2.94% and 3.23%, respectively.

The Term A Loan and the Term A-2 Loan mature, and the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement expires, on May 2, 2022. The Term B-2 Loan matures on April 22, 2023. The Term A Loan principal must be repaid in quarterly installments in the amount of 1.25% of principal through June 2019, increasing to 1.875% of principal through June 2021, and increasing to 2.50% of principal through March 2022, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in May 2022. The Term A-2 Loan principal must be

Table of Contents

repaid in quarterly installments of \$1.7 million through June 2018, increasing to quarterly installments of \$8.6 million through March 2022, with the remaining balance due upon maturity in May 2022. The Term B-2 Loan principal must be repaid in quarterly installments in the amount of 0.25% of principal through March 2023, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in April 2023.

The Credit Facility Agreement allows us to issue standby letters of credit of up to \$100 million in the aggregate under the Revolving Credit Facility. Outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility reduce the amount of borrowings available to us. Borrowings available to us under the Revolving Credit Facility are further limited by the covenants described below under "Compliance with Covenants." The total available commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were \$915.3 million and \$446.3 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2017, the interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility was 2.94%. In addition, we are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility at an applicable rate per annum ranging from 0.20% to 0.30% depending on our leverage ratio.

The portion of deferred debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility is included in other noncurrent assets, and the portion of deferred debt issuance costs related to the term loans is reported as a reduction to the carrying amount of the term loans. Debt issuance costs are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the terms of the respective facilities.

Settlement Lines of Credit

In various markets where we do business, we have lines of credit, which are restricted for use in funding settlement. The settlement lines of credit generally have variable interest rates, are subject to annual review and are denominated in local currency but may, in some cases, facilitate borrowings in multiple currencies. For certain of our settlement lines of credit, the available credit is increased by the amount of cash we have on deposit in specific accounts with the lender. Accordingly, the amount of the outstanding line of credit may exceed the stated credit limit. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, a total of \$50.2 million and \$51.0 million, respectively, of cash on deposit was used to determine the available credit.

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, we had \$318.3 million and \$392.1 million outstanding under these lines of credit with additional capacity of \$817.9 million as of June 30, 2017 to fund settlement. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings was 2.64% and 1.90% at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2017, the maximum and average outstanding balances under these lines of credit were \$687.4 million and \$311.6 million, respectively.

Compliance with Covenants

The Credit Facility Agreement contains customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, including, among others, financial covenants based on our leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios, as defined in the agreement. As of June 30, 2017, pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, financial covenants under the Credit Facility Agreement required a leverage ratio no greater than: (i) 4.75 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from May 2, 2017 through June 30, 2017; (ii) 4.50 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018; (iii) 4.25 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and (iv) 4.00 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter. The fixed charge coverage ratio is required to be no less than 2.25 to 1.00.

The Credit Facility Agreement and settlement lines of credit also include various other covenants that are customary in such borrowings. The Credit Facility Agreement includes covenants, subject in each case to exceptions and qualifications, that may restrict certain payments, including in certain circumstances, the payment of cash dividends in

excess of our current rate of \$0.01 per share per quarter.

The Credit Facility Agreement also includes customary events of default, the occurrence of which, following any applicable cure period, would permit the lenders to, among other things, declare the principal, accrued interest and other obligations to be immediately due and payable. We were in compliance with all applicable covenants as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2017.

Table of Contents

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We have interest rate swap agreements with financial institutions to hedge changes in cash flows attributable to interest rate risk on a portion of our variable-rate debt instruments. Net amounts to be received or paid under the swap agreements are reflected as adjustments to interest expense. Since we have designated the interest rate swap agreements as portfolio cash flow hedges, unrealized gains or losses resulting from adjusting the swaps to fair value are recorded as components of other comprehensive income, except for any ineffective portion of the change in fair value, which would be immediately recorded in interest expense. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, there was no ineffectiveness. The fair values of the interest rate swaps were determined based on the present value of the estimated future net cash flows using implied rates in the applicable yield curve as of the valuation date. These derivative instruments were classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

The table below presents the fair values of our derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges included in the consolidated balance sheets:

Derivative Financial Instruments	Balance Sheet Location	Weighted-Average Fixed Rate of Interest at June 30, 2017	Range of Maturity Dates	June 30,December 31, 2017 2016
				(in thousands)
Interest rate swaps (Notional of \$500 million at June 30, 2017, \$250 million at December 31, 2016)	Other assets	1.46%	December 31, 2019 - July 31, 2020	\$2,395 \$ 2,147
Interest rate swaps (Notional of \$800 million at June 30, 2017, \$750 million at December 31, 2016)	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	1.67%	February 28, 2019 - March 31, 2021	\$2,479 \$ 3,175

The table below presents the effects of our interest rate swaps on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and	1 2016:			
	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended	
	June 30,	June 30,	June 30,	June 30,
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(in thousands)			
Amount of loss recognized in other comprehensive income	\$(3,382)	\$(5,276)	\$(2,555)	\$(16,094)
Amount reclassified out of other comprehensive income to interest expense	\$1,897	\$1,925	\$3,493	\$3,880

As of June 30, 2017, the amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to our interest rate swaps that is expected to be reclassified into interest expense during the next 12 months was approximately \$3.0 million.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was \$47.4 million and \$37.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and \$88.5 million and \$51.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Table of Contents

NOTE 7—INCOME TAX

Our effective income tax rates were 15.1% and 0.0% for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. Our effective income tax rates were 16.7% and 12.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. Our effective income tax rates differ from the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to income generated in international jurisdictions with lower tax rates. In addition, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we recorded an income tax benefit of \$12.7 million associated with the elimination of certain net deferred tax liabilities associated with undistributed earnings from Canada as a result of management's plans to reinvest these earnings outside the United States indefinitely. This income tax benefit reduced our effective income tax rates for those periods.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities around the world, including, without limitation, the United States and the United Kingdom. We are no longer subject to state income tax examinations for years ended on or before May 31, 2008, U.S. federal income tax examinations for fiscal years prior to 2013 and U.K. federal income tax examinations for years ended on or before May 31, 2013.

NOTE 8—SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

We make repurchases of our common stock mainly through the use of open market purchases and, at times, through accelerated share repurchase programs. As of June 30, 2017, we were authorized to repurchase up to \$293.9 million of our common stock. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, through open market repurchase plans, we repurchased and retired 64,716 shares of our common stock at a cost of \$5.8 million, or an average cost of \$89.70 per share, including commissions.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, through open market repurchase plans, we repurchased and retired 609,343 and 658,159 shares of our common stock at a cost of \$41.9 million and \$44.8 million, or an average cost of \$68.82 and \$68.12 per share, including commissions. In addition to shares repurchased through open market repurchase plans, we repurchased 673,212 shares of our common stock at an average price of \$74.27 per share, including commissions, through an accelerated share repurchase program during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

NOTE 9—SHARE-BASED AWARDS AND OPTIONS

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense and the related income tax benefit recognized for our share-based awards and stock options:

Three Months Six Months Ended Ended

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, 2017 2016 2017 2016

(in thousands)

Share-based compensation expense \$12,337 \$10,325 \$21,153 \$17,372 Income tax benefit \$4,199 \$3,367 \$7,265 \$5,711

Table of Contents

Share-Based Awards

The following table summarizes the changes in unvested share-based awards for the six months ended June 30, 2017:

		Weighted-Average
	Shares	Grant-Date
		Fair Value
	(in	
	thousands)	
Unvested at December 31, 2016	1,263	\$49.55
Granted	490	80.21
Vested	(34)	60.89
Forfeited	(54)	58.22
Unvested at June 30, 2017	1,665	\$58.05

The total fair value of share-based awards vested during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 was \$2.2 million and \$1.0 million, respectively.

For these share-based awards, we recognized compensation expense of \$11.2 million and \$9.8 million during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively, and \$19.2 million and \$16.3 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. As of June 30, 2017, there was \$65.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based awards that we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. Our share-based award plans provide for accelerated vesting under certain conditions.

Stock Options

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant and have a term of ten years. Stock options granted before the year ended May 31, 2015 vest in equal installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date. Stock options granted during the year ended May 31, 2015 and thereafter vest in equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we granted stock options to purchase 123,958 shares of our common stock. There were no stock options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2016. Our stock option plans provide for accelerated vesting under certain conditions.

The following summarizes changes in unvested stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2017:

	Options	Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate			
Options		Exercise Price	Contractual Term	Value	
	(in thousands)	(years)	(in millions)	
Outstanding at December 31,	759	\$37.51	6.0	\$24.5	
2016	139	Φ37.31	0.0	\$24.3	
Granted	124	79.45			
Forfeited	_	_			
Exercised	(122)	22.03			
Outstanding at June 30, 2017	761	\$46.79	6.7	\$33.2	
Options vested and exercisable a June 30, 2017	at 381	\$31.05	4.8	\$22.6	

We recognized compensation expense for stock options of \$0.7 million and \$0.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively, and \$1.3 million and \$0.7 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30,

Table of Contents

2016 was \$7.5 million and \$4.6 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2017, we had \$4.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options that we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of each stock option granted during the six months ended June 30, 2017 was \$23.68. Fair value was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2017

Risk-free interest rate 1.99% Expected volatility 30% Dividend yield 0.06% Expected term (years) 5

The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of a zero coupon U.S. Treasury security with a maturity equal to the expected life of the option from the date of the grant. Our assumption on expected volatility is based on our historical volatility. The dividend yield assumption is calculated using our average stock price over the preceding year and the annualized amount of our most current quarterly dividend per share. We based our assumptions on the expected term of the options on our analysis of the historical exercise patterns of the options and our assumption on the future exercise pattern of options.

NOTE 10—EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to Global Payments by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Earnings available to common shareholders is the same as reported net income attributable to Global Payments for all periods presented.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to Global Payments by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period, including the effect of share-based awards that would have a dilutive effect on earnings per share. All stock options with an exercise price lower than the average market share price of our common stock for the period are assumed to have a dilutive effect on earnings per share. There were less than 0.1 million stock options that would have an antidilutive effect on the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017. There were no such antidilutive stock options for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

The following table sets forth the computation of diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016:

Three Months Six Months Ended Ended

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, 2017 2016 2017 2016

(in thousands)

Basic weighted-average number of shares outstanding Plus: Dilutive effect of stock options and other share-based awards Diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding

152,525 148,338 152,415 138,803 1,030 1,080 990 975 153,555 149,418 153,405 139,778

Table of Contents

NOTE 11—ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive loss, net of tax, were as follows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016:

	Foreign Gains Currency (Losses) on Hedging Activities		l Other	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	
	(in thousand	ds)			
Balance at March 31, 2016 Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Balance at June 30, 2016	(43,767)	(2,088	(826)	\$ (218,704 (46,681 \$ (265,385)
Balance at March 31, 2017 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax Balance at June 30, 2017	\$(284,835) 45,166 \$(239,669)	(822	3	\$ (287,806 44,347 \$ (243,459)

Other comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest, which relates only to foreign currency translation, was approximately \$(12.0) million and \$2.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively.

	Foreign Currency Translation	Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Hedging Activities	Other	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	
	(in thousand	ds)			
Balance at December 31, 2015 Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Balance at June 30, 2016	(9,724)	(7,645)	(826)	\$ (247,190 (18,195 \$ (265,385)
Balance at December 31, 2016 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax Balance at June 30, 2017	\$(318,450) 78,781 \$(239,669)	691	(214)	\$ (322,717 79,258 \$ (243,459)

Other comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest, which relates only to foreign currency translation, was approximately \$12.7 million and \$4.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively.

NOTE 12—SEGMENT INFORMATION

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on the operating income of each operating segment. The operating income of each operating segment includes the revenues of the segment less expenses that are directly

related to those revenues. Operating overhead, shared costs and certain compensation costs are included in Corporate in the following table. Interest and other income, interest and other expense and provision for income taxes are not allocated to the individual segments. We do not evaluate the performance of or allocate resources to our operating segments using asset data. The accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as those described in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016 and our summary of significant accounting policies in "Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

Table of Contents

Information on segments and reconciliations to consolidated revenues and consolidated operating income are as follows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016:

	Three Mon	ths Ended	Six Months Ended				
	June 30, June 30,		June 30,	June 30,			
	2017	2016	2017	2016			
	(in thousan	ds)					
Revenues ⁽¹⁾ :	`	,					
North America	\$710,965	\$624,120	\$1,398,009	\$1,051,980			
Europe	186,506	162,255	352,054	306,374			
Asia-Pacific	64,769	56,269	131,939	110,550			
Consolidated revenues	\$962,240	\$842,644	\$1,882,002	\$1,468,904			
Operating income (loss) ⁽¹⁾ :							
North America	\$112,176	\$82,476	\$206,259	\$147,665			
Europe	65,673	52,788	120,180	108,566			
Asia-Pacific	17,535	11,050	37,289	25,609			
Corporate ⁽²⁾	(63,532)	(85,153)	(126,906)	(126,106)			
Consolidated operating income	\$131,852	\$61,161	\$236,822	\$155,734			
Depreciation and amortization ⁽¹⁾ :							
North America	\$89,455	\$72,868	\$182,163	\$97,795			
Europe	11,487	10,140	23,063	19,761			
Asia-Pacific	4,308	4,088	7,584	7,754			
Corporate	2,030	1,346	3,504	2,444			
Consolidated depreciation and amortization	\$107,280	\$88,442	\$216,314	\$127,754			

⁽¹⁾ Revenues, operating income and depreciation and amortization reflect the effect of acquired businesses from the respective dates of acquisition. Notably, on April 22, 2016, we merged with Heartland as further discussed in "Note 2—Acquisitions."

NOTE 13—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

In May 2017, we sold our operating facility in Jeffersonville, Indiana, which we acquired as part of the Heartland merger, for \$37.5 million and simultaneously leased the property back for an initial term of 20 years, followed by four optional renewal terms of 5 years. The arrangement met the criteria to be treated as a sale for accounting purposes, and as a result, we derecognized the associated property. There was no resulting gain or loss on the sale because the proceeds received were equal to the carrying amount of the property. We are accounting for the lease as an operating lease.

⁽²⁾ During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively, operating loss for Corporate included Heartland integration expenses of \$21.9 million and \$48.0 million, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, operating loss for Corporate included Heartland integration expenses and transaction costs of \$50.5 million and \$59.0 million, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

NOTE 14—SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On August 2, 2017, we entered into a Stock Purchase and Merger Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Vista Equity Partners to acquire the communities and sports divisions of Athlaction Topco, LLC ("ACTIVE Network") in a cash-and-stock transaction. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, we will pay the sellers

Table of Contents

aggregate consideration in the amount of \$1.2 billion, consisting of \$600 million in cash, which we will fund primarily by drawing on our Revolving Credit Facility, and \$600 million in shares of our common stock, which will be subject to certain transfer restrictions. We expect the acquisition to close in our 2017 fourth quarter, subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions.

ITEM 2—MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 1 of Part 1 of this Quarterly Report and the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and consolidated financial statements contained in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements about our plans and expectations of what may happen in the future, including, without limitation, our proposed acquisition of the communities and sports divisions of Athlaction Topco, LLC ("ACTIVE Network") from Vista Equity Partners. Forward-looking statements are based on a number of assumptions and estimates that are inherently subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and our actual results could differ materially from the results anticipated by our forward-looking statements. See "Forward-Looking Statements" below for additional information.

Executive Overview

We are a leading worldwide provider of payment technology services delivering innovative solutions to our customers globally. Our technologies and employee expertise enable us to provide a broad range of services that allow our customers to accept various payment types. We distribute our services across a variety of channels to customers in 30 countries throughout North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and Brazil and operate in three reportable segments: North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific.

We merged with Heartland Payments Systems, Inc. ("Heartland") in a cash-and-stock transaction on April 22, 2016 for total purchase consideration of \$3.9 billion. See "Note 2—Acquisitions" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our merger with Heartland.

On August 2, 2017, we entered into a Stock Purchase and Merger Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with ACTIVE Network, pursuant to which we will acquire ACTIVE Network's communities and sports divisions in a cash-and-stock transaction. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, we will pay the sellers aggregate consideration in the amount of \$1.2 billion, consisting of \$600 million in cash, which we will fund primarily by drawing on our Revolving Credit Facility (as defined in "Liquidity and Capital Resources - Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit" below), and \$600 million in shares of our common stock, which will be subject to certain transfer restrictions. We expect the acquisition to close in our 2017 fourth quarter, subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions.

Highlights related to our financial condition and results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 are provided below:

Consolidated revenues increased by 14.2% and 28.1% to \$962.2 million and \$1,882.0 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to \$842.6 million and \$1,468.9 million, respectively, for the prior-year period, primarily due to the merger with Heartland, partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations in foreign markets of \$13.4 million and \$21.5 million, respectively.

Consolidated operating income was \$131.9 million and \$236.8 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to \$61.2 million and \$155.7 million, respectively, for the prior-year periods. Our operating margin for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 was 13.7% and 12.6%, respectively, compared to 7.3% and 10.6%, respectively, for the prior-year periods. The contribution of the revenue growth in local currency was partially offset by an increase in depreciation and amortization expense of \$18.8 million and \$88.6 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017.

Net income attributable to Global Payments was \$66.9 million and \$115.7 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to \$62.2 million and \$122.1 million, respectively, for the prior-year periods. Diluted earnings per share was \$0.44 and \$0.75, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to \$0.42 and \$0.87,

Table of Contents

respectively, for the prior-year periods. The prior-year periods included a gain of \$41.2 million from the sale of all of our membership interests in Visa Europe Limited ("Visa Europe") to Visa Inc. ("Visa").

Emerging Trends

We believe that electronic payment transactions will continue to grow and that an increasing percentage of these will be facilitated through emerging technologies. As a result, we expect an increasing portion of our future capital investment will be allocated to support the development of new and emerging technologies; however, we do not expect our aggregate capital spending to increase materially from our current level of spending as a result of this.

We also believe new markets will continue to develop in areas that have been previously dominated by paper-based transactions. We expect industries such as education, government and healthcare, as well as payment types such as recurring payments and business-to-business payments, to continue to see transactions migrate to electronic-based solutions. We anticipate that the continued development of new services and the emergence of new vertical markets will be a factor in the growth of our business and our revenue in the future.

The payments industry continues to grow worldwide and as a result, certain large payment technology companies, including us, have expanded operations globally by pursuing acquisitions and creating alliances and joint ventures. We expect to continue to expand into new markets internationally or increase our scale and improve our competitiveness in existing markets by pursuing further acquisitions and joint ventures.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth key selected financial data for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, this data as a percentage of total revenues, and the changes between the periods in dollars and as a percentage of the prior-year amount. The income statement data for the three months ended June 30, 2016 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements for that period.

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2017	% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Three Months Ended June 30, 2016	% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Change	% Change
	(dollar amo	unts in th	ous	ands)				
Revenues ⁽²⁾ :								
North America	\$710,965	73.9	%	\$624,120	74.1	%	\$86,845	13.9 %
Europe	186,506	19.4	%	162,255	19.3	%	24,251	14.9 %
Asia-Pacific	64,769	6.7	%	56,269	6.7	%	8,500	15.1 %
Total revenues	\$962,240	100.0	%	\$842,644	100.0	%	\$119,596	14.2 %
Consolidated operating expenses ⁽²⁾ :								
Cost of service	\$469,149	48.8	%	\$406,873	48.3	%	\$62,276	15.3 %
Selling, general and administrative	361,239	37.5	%	374,610	44.5	%	(13,371)	(3.6)%
Operating expenses	\$830,388	86.3	%	\$781,483	92.7	%	\$48,905	6.3 %
Operating income (loss) ⁽²⁾ :								
North America	\$112,176			\$82,476			\$29,700	36.0 %
Europe	65,673			52,788			12,885	24.4 %
Asia-Pacific	17,535			11,050			6,485	58.7 %
Corporate ⁽³⁾	(63,532)			(85,153)			21,621	(25.4)%
Operating income	\$131,852	13.7	%	\$61,161	7.3	%	\$70,691	115.6 %
Operating margin ⁽²⁾ :								
North America	15.8 %)		13.2 %	,		2.6	, o
Europe	35.2 %)		32.5 %	,		2.7	, o
Asia-Pacific	27.1 %)		19.6 %	,		7.5	ó
(1) Percentage amounts may not sum	to the total	due to ro	undi	nσ				

⁽¹⁾ Percentage amounts may not sum to the total due to rounding.

⁽²⁾ Revenues, operating expenses, operating income and operating margin reflect the effect of acquired businesses from the respective dates of acquisition. Notably, on April 22, 2016, we merged with Heartland as further discussed in "Note 2—Acquisitions" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements.

⁽³⁾ Operating loss for Corporate included Heartland integration expenses of \$21.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and transaction costs and integration expenses of \$50.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2016. These integration expenses and transaction costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the unaudited consolidated statements of income.

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth key selected financial data for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, this data as a percentage of total revenues, and the changes between the periods in dollars and as a percentage of the prior-year amount. The income statement data for the six months ended June 30, 2016 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements for that period.

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2017		% of Revenue ⁽¹⁾		Hnded liine		% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Change		% Change	
	(dollar amo	(dollar amounts in thousands)										
Revenues ⁽²⁾ :												
North America	\$1,398,009)	74.3	%	\$1,051,980	\mathbf{C}	71.6	%	\$346,029	3	32.9	%
Europe	352,054		18.7	%	306,374		20.9	%	45,680		14.9 %	
Asia-Pacific	131,939		7.0	%	110,550		7.5	%	21,389		19.3 %	
Total revenues	\$1,882,002	,	100.0	%	\$1,468,90	4	100.0	%	\$413,098	2	28.1	%
Consolidated operating expenses ⁽²⁾ :												
Cost of service	\$925,085		49.2	%	\$655,060		44.6	%	\$270,025	4	11.2	%
Selling, general and administrative	720,095		38.3	%	658,110		44.8	%	61,985	9	9.4	%
Operating expenses	\$1,645,180)	87.4	%	\$1,313,170	0	89.4	%	\$332,010	2	25.3	%
Operating income (loss) ⁽²⁾ :												
North America	\$206,259				\$147,665				\$58,594	3	39.7	%
Europe	120,180				108,566				11,614	1	0.7	%
Asia-Pacific	37,289				25,609				11,680		15.6	
Corporate ⁽³⁾	(126,906)			(126,106)			(800)	C	0.6	%
Operating income	\$236,822		12.6	%	\$155,734		10.6	%	\$81,088	5	52.1	%
Operating margin ⁽²⁾ :												
North America	14.8	%			14.0	%			0.8	6		
Europe	34.1	%			35.4	%			(1.3)	%		
Asia-Pacific	28.3	%			23.2	%			5.1	6		

⁽¹⁾ Percentage amounts may not sum to the total due to rounding.

⁽²⁾ Revenues, operating expenses, operating income and operating margin reflect the effect of acquired businesses from the respective dates of acquisition. Notably, on April 22, 2016, we merged with Heartland as further discussed in "Note 2—Acquisitions" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements.

⁽³⁾ Operating loss for Corporate included Heartland integration expenses of \$48.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and transaction costs and integration expenses of \$59.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2016. These integration expenses and transaction costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the unaudited consolidated statements of income.

Table of Contents

Revenues

For the three months ended June 30, 2017, revenues increased by \$119.6 million, or 14.2%, compared to the prior year, to \$962.2 million, reflecting growth in each of our operating segments, despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$13.4 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, revenues increased by \$413.1 million, or 28.1%, compared to the prior year, to \$1,882.0 million, reflecting growth in each of our operating segments, despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$21.5 million.

North America Segment. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, revenues from our North America segment increased by \$86.8 million and \$346.0 million, or 13.9% and 32.9%, respectively, compared to the prior year, to \$711.0 million and \$1,398.0 million, respectively, primarily due to our merger with Heartland.

Europe Segment. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, revenues from our Europe segment increased by \$24.3 million and \$45.7 million, or 14.9% each period, compared to the prior year, to \$186.5 million and \$352.1 million, respectively, primarily due to organic growth in local currencies, partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$9.5 million and \$20.0 million, respectively.

Asia-Pacific Segment. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, revenues from our Asia-Pacific segment increased by \$8.5 million and \$21.4 million, or 15.1% and 19.3%, respectively, compared to the prior year, to \$64.8 million and \$131.9 million, respectively, primarily due to organic growth in local currencies.

Operating Expenses

Cost of Service. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, cost of service increased by \$62.3 million and \$270.0 million, or 15.3% and 41.2%, respectively, compared to the prior year, to \$469.1 million and \$925.1 million, respectively. As a percentage of revenues, cost of service increased to 48.8% and 49.2%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 from 48.3% and 44.6%, respectively, for the prior year. The increase in cost of service was driven primarily by an increase in the variable costs associated with our revenue growth, including those related to our merger with Heartland, and by additional intangible asset amortization associated with recently acquired businesses of \$13.9 million and \$77.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. For the three months ended June 30, 2017, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by \$13.4 million, or 3.6%, compared to the prior year, to \$361.2 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, selling, general and administrative expenses increased by \$62.0 million, or 9.4%, compared to the prior year, to \$720.1 million. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 37.5% and 38.3% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 from 44.5% and 44.8%, respectively, for the prior year.

During the three months ended June 30, 2017, the decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to a decrease in merger-related expenses of \$28.6 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to additional costs to support the growth of our business, including incremental expenses associated with the integration of Heartland. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues is due to synergies achieved in general and administrative expenses from the merger with Heartland, as well as the decrease in merger-related costs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017.

Operating Income and Operating Margin

North America Segment. Operating income in our North America segment increased by 36.0% and 39.7% to \$112.2 million and \$206.3 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year. The increase in operating income was primarily due to revenue growth in our U.S. business, partially offset by additional intangible asset amortization associated with the merger with Heartland. Operating margin increased by 2.6 and 0.8 percentage points for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively.

Table of Contents

Europe Segment. Operating income in our Europe segment increased by 24.4% and 10.7% to \$65.7 million and \$120.2 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year, despite the effect of unfavorable currency fluctuations of \$6.0 million and \$12.5 million, respectively. Operating margin increased by 2.7 percentage points for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and decreased by 1.3 percentage points for the six months ended June 30, 2017. The increase in operating income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 was primarily due to revenue growth. The operating margins for the prior-year periods reflect the effects of startup costs associated with our investment in a joint venture in Central and Eastern Europe, which we commenced during the three months ended June 30, 2016.

Asia-Pacific Segment. Operating income in our Asia-Pacific segment increased by 58.7% and 45.6% to \$17.5 million and \$37.3 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year. Operating margin increased by 7.5 and 5.1 percentage points, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017. The increase in operating income and operating margin was due to organic revenue growth.

Corporate. Corporate expenses decreased by 25.4% to \$63.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year, primarily due to a decrease in merger-related expenses. Corporate expenses increased by 0.6% to \$126.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year.

Other Income/Expense, Net

Interest and other income decreased \$40.7 million and \$40.4 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year, due to the gain of \$41.2 million that we recorded in connection with our sale of all of the membership interests in Visa Europe during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016. See "Note 5—Other Assets" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion of this transaction.

Interest and other expense increased \$11.8 million and \$40.0 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the prior year, primarily due to an increase in interest expense incurred resulting from an increase in the outstanding borrowings to fund the merger with Heartland.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rates were 15.1% and 0.0% for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively, and 16.7% and 12.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. Effective income tax rates for the prior-year periods include the effect of eliminating certain net deferred tax liabilities associated with undistributed earnings from Canada, during the three months ended June 30, 2016, as a result of management's plans to reinvest these earnings outside the United States indefinitely.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In the ordinary course of our business, a significant portion of our liquidity comes from operating cash flows. Cash flow from operations is used to make planned capital investments in our business, to pursue acquisitions that meet our corporate objectives, to pay dividends, to pay principal and interest on our outstanding debt and to repurchase shares of our common stock. Accumulated cash balances are invested in high-quality, marketable short-term instruments.

Our capital plan objectives are to support our operational needs and strategic plan for long-term growth while maintaining a low cost of capital. We use our financing, such as our Revolving Credit Facility and our term loans, for general corporate purposes and to fund acquisitions. In addition, lines of credit are also used in certain of our markets to fund merchant settlement prior to receipt of funds from the card network. We regularly evaluate our liquidity and

capital position relative to cash requirements, and we may elect to raise additional funds in the future, either through the issuance of debt, equity or otherwise.

On August 2, 2017, we entered into a Purchase Agreement with ACTIVE Network, pursuant to which we will acquire ACTIVE Network's communities and sports divisions in a cash-and-stock transaction. The proposed acquisition is described in the "Executive Overview" section of this Quarterly Report. In connection with the consummation of the proposed acquisition, we intend to draw on our Revolving Credit Facility, primarily, to fund the cash consideration for the acquisition of \$600 million, repay certain of

Table of Contents

ACTIVE Network's indebtedness and pay related fees and expenses. The anticipated increased level of debt could, among other things: (i) require us to dedicate a larger portion of our cash flow from operations to servicing and repayment of the debt; (ii) reduce funds available for strategic initiatives and opportunities, working capital and other general corporate needs; and (iii) limit our ability to incur certain kinds or amounts of additional indebtedness.

At June 30, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling \$1,080.6 million. Of this amount, we consider \$500.9 million to be available for general purposes, which does not include the following: (1) settlement-related cash balances, (2) funds held as collateral for merchant losses ("Merchant Reserves") and (3) funds held for customers. Settlement-related cash balances represent funds that we hold when the incoming amount from the card networks precedes the funding obligation to the merchant. Settlement-related cash balances are not restricted; however, these funds are generally paid out in satisfaction of settlement processing obligations the following day. At June 30, 2017, our cash and cash equivalents included \$150.2 million for settlement-related cash balances. Merchant Reserves serve as collateral to minimize contingent liabilities associated with any losses that may occur under the merchant agreement. At June 30, 2017, our cash and cash equivalents included \$170.7 million related to Merchant Reserves. While this cash is not restricted in its use, we believe that designating this cash to collateralize Merchant Reserves strengthens our fiduciary standing with our member sponsors and is in accordance with the guidelines set by the card networks. Funds held for customers and the corresponding liability that we record in customer deposits include amounts collected prior to remittance on our customers' behalf. At June 30, 2017, cash and cash equivalents included funds held for customers of \$244.7 million.

Our available cash balance at June 30, 2017 included \$428.3 million of cash held by foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. These cash balances reflect our capital investments in these subsidiaries and the accumulation of cash flows generated by their operations, net of cash flows used to service debt locally and fund acquisitions outside of the United States. We believe that we are able to maintain a sufficient level of liquidity for our domestic operations and commitments without repatriation of the earnings of these foreign subsidiaries. If we were to repatriate some or all of the cash held by such foreign subsidiaries, we do not believe that the associated income tax liabilities would have a significant effect on our liquidity.

Operating activities provided net cash of \$268.1 million and \$249.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. The increase in cash flows from operating activities of \$18.8 million was primarily due to the improvement in our earnings before non-cash expenses, such as amortization of acquired intangibles, partially offset by a decrease in the change in net settlement processing assets of \$77.8 million and other working capital accounts. Fluctuations in settlement processing assets and obligations are largely due to timing of month-end and settlement transaction volume. During six months ended June 30, 2016, we made payments of acquisition-related costs associated with our merger with Heartland, including approximately \$40 million of acquisition-related costs incurred by Heartland that were included in liabilities we assumed as of the acquisition date.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$86.7 million and \$1,852.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we paid Heartland shareholders \$2,043.4 million of cash as a portion of the consideration for the merger.

We made capital expenditures of \$90.0 million and \$62.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, respectively. During the year ending December 31, 2017, we expect capital expenditures for property and equipment, including internal-use capitalized software development costs, to approximate \$170 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we completed a sale-leaseback of our operating facility in Jeffersonville, Indiana and received cash of \$37.5 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we received cash of \$37.7 million from the sale of our membership interests in Visa Europe.

Net cash used in financing activities was \$290.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017, while financing activities provided net cash of \$2,009.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2016. The changes in each year were primarily due to financing activities associated with our corporate credit facility. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we increased our long-term debt by \$2,237.1 million, primarily to fund our merger with Heartland. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we made net repayments on our long-term debt of \$180.6 million.

As of June 30, 2017, we have approximately \$293.9 million of share repurchase authority remaining under a program authorized by the board of directors, announced on January 5, 2017, to repurchase shares of our common stock. We make repurchases of our

Table of Contents

common stock mainly through the use of open market purchases and, at times, through accelerated share repurchase programs. The manner, timing and amount of any purchases are determined by our management based on an evaluation of market conditions, stock price and other factors. During the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, we used cash of \$5.3 million and \$82.8 million, respectively, to repurchase shares of our common stock.

We believe that our current level of cash and borrowing capacity under our long-term debt and lines of credit described below, together with future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet the needs of our existing operations and planned requirements for the foreseeable future (including the additional borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility for the acquisition of ACTIVE Network).

Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit

We are party to a credit facility agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and a syndicate of financial institutions, as lenders and other agents (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Facility Agreement"). The Credit Facility Agreement was most recently amended on May 2, 2017 (the "Fourth Amendment") and, as amended, provides for (i) a \$1.25 billion revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Credit Facility"); (ii) a \$1.5 billion term loan (the "Term A Loan"); (iii) a \$1.3 billion term loan (the "Term A-2 Loan"); and (iv) a \$1.2 billion term loan facility, which replaced the Term B Loan (the "Term B-2 Loan"). The Fourth Amendment increased the total financing capacity under the Credit Facility Agreement on May 2, 2017 from \$4.9 billion to \$5.2 billion, although the outstanding debt under the Credit Facility Agreement did not change as we repaid certain outstanding amounts under the Term A Loan, the Term A-2 Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility in connection with the Fourth Amendment. Substantially all of the assets of our domestic subsidiaries are pledged as collateral under the Credit Facility Agreement.

The Credit Facility Agreement provides for an interest rate, at our election, of either London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or a base rate, in each case plus a leverage-based margin as were fully disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2017. As of June 30, 2017, the interest rates on the Term A Loan, the Term A-2 Loan and the Term B-2 Loan were 2.98%, 2.94% and 3.23%, respectively, and the interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility was 2.94%. The Credit Facility Agreement also provides for a commitment fee with respect to borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility at an applicable rate per annum ranging from 0.20% to 0.30% depending on our leverage ratio. As of June 30, 2017, the aggregate outstanding balance on the term loans was \$4.0 billion, and the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was \$324.0 million.

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the Term A Loan and the Term A-2 Loan mature, and the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement expires, on May 2, 2022. The Term B-2 Loan matures on April 22, 2023. The Term A Loan principal must be repaid in quarterly installments in the amount of 1.25% of principal through June 2019, increasing to 1.875% of principal through June 2021, and increasing to 2.50% of principal through March 2022, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in May 2022. The Term A-2 Loan principal must be repaid in quarterly installments of \$1.7 million through June 2018, increasing to quarterly installments of \$8.6 million through March 2022, with the remaining balance due upon maturity in May 2022. The Term B-2 Loan principal must be repaid in quarterly installments in the amount of 0.25% of principal through March 2023, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in April 2023.

The Credit Facility Agreement allows us to issue standby letters of credit of up to \$100 million in the aggregate under the Revolving Credit Facility. Outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility reduce the amount of borrowings available to us. Borrowings available to us under the Revolving Credit Facility are further limited by the covenants described below under "Compliance with Covenants." The total available commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility at June 30, 2017 were \$915.3 million.

Settlement Lines of Credit

In various markets where we do business, we have lines of credit, which are restricted for use in funding settlement. The settlement lines of credit generally have variable interest rates, are subject to annual review and are denominated in local currency but may, in some cases, facilitate borrowings in multiple currencies. For certain of our lines of credit, the available credit is increased by the amount of cash we have on deposit in specific accounts with the lender. Accordingly, the amount of the outstanding line of credit may exceed the stated credit limit. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, a total of \$50.2 million and \$51.0 million, respectively, of cash on deposit was used to determine the available credit.

Table of Contents

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, we had \$318.3 million and \$392.1 million outstanding under these lines of credit with additional capacity of \$817.9 million as of June 30, 2017 to fund settlement. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings was 2.64% and 1.90% at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

Compliance with Covenants

The Credit Facility Agreement contains customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, including, among others, financial covenants based on our leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios as defined in the agreement. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, financial covenants require a leverage ratio for the period beginning May 2, 2017 no greater than: (i) 4.75 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from May 2, 2017 through June 30, 2017; (ii) 4.50 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018; (iii) 4.25 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and (iv) 4.00 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter. The fixed charge coverage ratio is required to be no less than 2.25 to 1.00. Refer to "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for the required leverage ratios as of June 30, 2017.

The Credit Facility Agreement and settlement lines of credit also include various other covenants that are customary in such borrowings. The Credit Facility Agreement includes covenants, subject in each case to exceptions and qualifications that may restrict certain payments, including, in certain circumstances, repurchasing our common stock and paying cash dividends in excess of our current rate of \$0.01 per share per quarter.

The Credit Facility Agreement also includes customary events of default, the occurrence of which, following any applicable cure period, would permit the lenders to, among other things, declare the principal, accrued interest and other obligations to be immediately due and payable. We were in compliance with all applicable covenants as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2017.

See "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our borrowing arrangements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any transactions with unconsolidated entities whereby we have financial guarantees, subordinated retained interest, derivative instruments, or other contingent arrangements that expose us to material continuing risks, contingent liabilities, or other obligations under a variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that provides us with financing, liquidity, market, or credit risk support other than the guarantee services described in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Policies" in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations

As a result of the Fourth Amendment, the repayment schedules for our term loans and Revolving Credit Facility were extended. See "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for updated repayment requirements by year as of June 30, 2017.

In addition, as a result of the sale-leaseback of our operating facility in Jeffersonville, Indiana, we entered into an operating lease with escalating future minimum payments totaling \$56.1 million at June 30, 2017. See "Note 13—Commitments and Contingencies" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for

further discussion about the sale-leaseback transaction.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which often require the judgment of management in the selection and application of certain accounting principles and methods. We discuss our critical accounting policies in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Table of Contents

Results of Operations," in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016.

During the first quarter of 2017, we revised our reporting unit structure within our North America segment to reflect changes made in connection with the integration of Heartland. Under the revised reporting unit structure, we operate two reporting units in our North America segment: (i) Payments and (ii) Integrated Solutions and Vertical Markets. We reassigned the goodwill previously allocated to North America merchant services and Heartland to the two new reporting units using a relative fair value approach. As a result of the change in reporting units, we performed goodwill impairment tests immediately before and after this change in reporting units and determined that there was no impairment.

Effect of New Accounting Pronouncements and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other standards setting bodies that may affect our current and/or future financial statements. See "Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted.

Forward-Looking Statements

Investors are cautioned that some of the statements we use in this report contain forward-looking statements and are made pursuant to the "safe-harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties and depend upon future events or conditions. Actual events or results might differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee you that our plans and expectations will be achieved. Such statements may include, but are not limited to, statements about the benefits of our merger with Heartland, including future financial and operating results, the combined company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions, statements about the proposed acquisition of ACTIVE Network, and other statements that are not historical facts.

Important factors that may cause actual events or results to differ materially from those anticipated by such forward-looking statements include our ability to safeguard our data; increased competition from larger companies and non-traditional competitors, our ability to update our services in a timely manner; our ability to maintain Visa and MasterCard registration and financial institution sponsorship; our reliance on financial institutions to provide clearing services in connection with our settlement activities; our potential failure to comply with card network requirements; potential systems interruptions or failures; software defects or undetected errors; increased attrition of merchants, referral partners or independent sales organizations; our ability to increase our share of existing markets and expand into new markets; a decline in the use of cards for payment generally; unanticipated increases in chargeback liability; increases in credit card network fees; change in laws, regulations or network rules or interpretations thereof; foreign currency exchange and interest rate risks; political, economic and regulatory changes in the foreign countries in which we operate: future performance, integration and conversion of acquired operations; including without limitation difficulties and delays in integrating the Heartland business or fully realizing cost savings and other benefits of the acquisition at all or within the expected time period; fully realizing anticipated annual interest expense savings from refinancing our corporate debt facilities; our loss of key personnel and other risk factors presented in Item 1- Risk Factors of our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016 and any subsequent SEC filings, which we advise you to review. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and should not be relied upon as representing our plans and expectations as of any subsequent date. We undertake no obligation to revise any of these statements to reflect future circumstances or the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Additional important factors that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those anticipated by our forward-looking statements or historical performance associated with the proposed acquisition of ACTIVE Network include the ability to meet closing conditions at all or on the expected terms and schedule, business disruption during the pendency of the acquisition or thereafter making it more difficult to maintain business and operational relationships, including the possibility that our announcement of the acquisition could disrupt our or ACTIVE Network's relationships with financial institutions, customers, employees or other partners; difficulties and delays in integrating the ACTIVE Network business or fully realizing benefits of the acquisition at all or within the expected time period.

Table of Contents

ITEM 3—QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates on our long-term debt and cash investments. We invest our excess cash in securities that we believe are highly liquid and marketable in the short term. These investments earn a floating rate of interest and are not held for trading or other speculative purposes.

We have term loans and a Revolving Credit Facility that we use for general corporate purposes, as well as various lines of credit that we use to fund settlement in certain of our markets. Interest rates on these debt instruments and settlement lines of credit are based on market rates and fluctuate accordingly. As of June 30, 2017, there was \$4.6 billion outstanding under these variable-rate debt arrangements and settlement lines of credit.

The interest earned on our cash investments and the interest paid on our debt are based on variable interest rates; therefore, the exposure of our net income to a change in interest rates is partially mitigated as an increase in rates would increase both interest income and interest expense, and a reduction in rates would decrease both interest income and interest expense. Under our current policies, we may selectively use derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps or forward rate agreements, to manage all or a portion of our exposure to interest rate changes. We have interest rate swaps that reduce a portion of our exposure to market interest rate risk on our LIBOR-based debt as discussed in "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit" in the notes to our accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Based on balances outstanding under variable-rate debt agreements and cash investment balances at June 30, 2017, a hypothetical increase of 50 basis points in applicable interest rates as of June 30, 2017 would increase our annual interest expense by approximately \$16.6 million and increase our annual interest income by approximately \$2.4 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

A substantial amount of our operations are conducted in foreign currencies. Consequently, a portion of our revenues and expenses may be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We are also affected by fluctuations in exchange rates on assets and liabilities related to our foreign operations. We have not historically hedged our translation risk on foreign currency exposure, but we may do so in the future.

ITEM 4—CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of June 30, 2017, management carried out, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2017, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable rules and forms and are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in those reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In April 2016, we completed our merger with Heartland, which is being integrated into our North America segment. As part of our ongoing integration activities, we are continuing to apply our controls and procedures to the Heartland business and to augment our company-wide controls to reflect the risks inherent in an acquisition of this magnitude. Otherwise, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1—LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to a number of claims and lawsuits incidental to our business. In our opinion, the liabilities, if any, which may ultimately result from the outcome of such matters, individually or in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, liquidity, results of operations or cash flows.

Heartland, Heartland's board of directors, Global Payments, Data Merger Sub One, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Global Payments) and Data Merger Sub Two, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of Global Payments) were named as defendants in a putative class action lawsuit challenging the merger with Heartland. The suit was filed on January 8, 2016 in the New Jersey Superior Court, Mercer County, Civil Division, and is captioned Kevin Merchant v. Heartland Payment Systems, et al, L-45-16. The complaint alleged, among other things, that the directors of Heartland breached their fiduciary duties to Heartland stockholders by agreeing to sell Heartland for inadequate consideration, agreeing to improper deal protection terms in the merger agreement, failing to properly value Heartland, and filing a materially incomplete registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, the complaint alleged that Heartland, Global Payments, Data Merger Sub One, and Data Merger Sub Two aided and abetted these purported breaches of fiduciary duty. On April 12, 2016, solely to avoid the costs, disruption and distraction of further litigation, and without admitting the validity of any allegations made by the plaintiff, Heartland and Global Payments reached an agreement to settle the suit and entered into a Memorandum of Understanding to document the terms and conditions for settlement of the suit. On April 7, 2017, the court approved the parties' settlement agreement under which Heartland agreed to pay Plaintiffs' counsel \$325,000 in attorney's fees. The settlement releases all claims that were or could have been brought challenging any aspect of the merger with Heartland or the merger agreement related thereto.

ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS

As disclosed in "Note 14—Subsequent Event" of the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements, on August 2, 2017, we entered into a Purchase Agreement to acquire the communities and sports divisions of ACTIVE Network in a cash-and-stock transaction. There are certain risks and uncertainties relating to the ACTIVE Network acquisition. Because of these risks, we have supplemented the risk factors previously disclosed in our Transition Report on Form 10-K for the seven months ended December 31, 2016, to add the following risk factors:

We may not be able to successfully or timely complete the pending acquisition of ACTIVE Network, which could harm our ability to realize anticipated benefits from the acquisition.

Our ability to successfully complete the acquisition depends on a variety of factors, including, among others, the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Purchase Agreement and the expiration or termination of the waiting periods under applicable antitrust laws. In addition, satisfying the conditions to the closing of the acquisition may take longer than we expect, which could cause us to incur extra transaction expenses or to delay or fail to realize fully the benefits that we currently expect to receive if the acquisition is successfully completed within the expected time frame.

If we complete our pending acquisition of ACTIVE Network, we may not realize anticipated benefits of the transaction or we may be subject to additional costs or liabilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

The achievement of the anticipated benefits of the transaction is subject to a number of uncertainties. If the acquisition of ACTIVE Network is completed, we can provide no assurance that: (i) the anticipated benefits of the transaction will be fully realized in the time frame anticipated or at all; (ii) the costs related to the integration of ACTIVE

Network's business and operations into ours and the financing of the transaction will not be greater than expected; (iii) the transaction will not cause disruption to our or ACTIVE Network's business and operations and relationships with financial institutions, customers, employees and other partners; and (iv) we will not incur liabilities for the past activities of ACTIVE Network and its subsidiaries. Further, our management's efforts to complete the acquisition of ACTIVE Network and related integration could divert its attention away from the day-to-day operations of our business. If one or more of these risks is realized, it could negatively affect our operating results and cash flows.

We will take on additional indebtedness to finance the acquisition, which could adversely affect us, including by decreasing our business flexibility.

In connection with the consummation of the proposed acquisition of ACTIVE Network, we intend to draw on our Revolving Credit Facility to fund the cash consideration of \$600 million for the acquisition. Our increased level of debt could, among other things, (i) require us to dedicate a larger portion of our cash flow from operations to servicing and repayment of debt; (ii) reduce

Table of Contents

funds available for strategic initiatives and opportunities, working capital and other general corporate needs; and (iii) limit our ability to incur certain kinds or amounts of additional indebtedness, which could restrict our flexibility to react to changes in our business, industry and economic conditions.

Issuance of shares of common stock in connection with the proposed acquisition of ACTIVE Network will reduce our existing shareholders' ownership and voting interest in our company and may adversely affect our stock price.

As partial consideration for the proposed acquisition of ACTIVE Network, we expect to issue shares of our common stock to the sellers in the amount of \$600 million. The issuance of these new shares of our common stock will reduce our existing shareholders' ownership and voting interest in our company and, as a result, our existing shareholders will be able to exert less influence over our company. The issuance of these new shares of our common stock, which will be subject to certain transfer restrictions, may also result in fluctuations in the market price of our common stock, including a stock price decrease.

We may not be able to successfully or timely complete the pending acquisition of ACTIVE Network, which could harm our ability to realize anticipated benefits from the acquisition.

Our ability to successfully complete the acquisition depends on a variety of factors, including, among others, the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Purchase Agreement and the expiration or termination of the waiting periods under applicable antitrust laws. In addition, satisfying the conditions to the closing of the acquisition may take longer than we expect, which could cause us to incur extra transaction expenses or to delay or fail to realize fully the benefits that we currently expect to receive if the acquisition is successfully completed within the expected time frame.

ITEM 2—UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Information about the shares of our common stock that we repurchased during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 is set forth below:

				Maximum
			Total	Number (or
			Number of	Approximate
Period :	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Annrovimoto	Shares	Dollar Value)
		Approximate	Purchased	of
		Average Price Paid	as Part of	Shares that
		per Share	Publicly	May Yet Be
		per snare	Announced	Purchased
			Plans or	Under
			Programs	the Plans or
				Programs (2)
				(in millions)
April 2017		\$ —		
May 2017	_	\$ —		
June 2017	64,716	\$ 89.70	64,716	
Total	64,716		64,716	\$ 293.9

⁽¹⁾ Our board of directors has authorized us to repurchase shares of our common stock through any combination of Rule 10b5-1 open-market repurchase plans, accelerated share repurchase plans, discretionary open-market

purchases or privately negotiated transactions.

- As of June 30, 2017, the approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under our share repurchase program was \$293.9 million remaining available under the board's authorization announced on January 5, 2017.
- (2) The authorizations by the board of directors do not expire, but could be revoked at any time. In addition, we are not required by any of the board's authorizations or otherwise to complete any repurchases by any specific time or at all.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, pursuant to our employee incentive plans, we withheld 7,621 shares at an average price per share of \$85.70 in order to satisfy employees' tax withholding and payment obligations in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock, which we withheld at fair market value on the vesting date.

Table of Contents

ITEM 6—EXHIBITS

List of Exhibits

- 3.1 Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed July 25, 2013.
- 3.2 Eighth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 4, 2017.

 Fourth Amendment, dated May 2, 2017, to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July
- 10.1* 31, 2015 among the Company, the other borrowers party thereto, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
- 31.1* Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2* Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.1* Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
 Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 The following financial information from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and filed electronically herewith: (i) the
- Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income; (ii) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income; (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets; (iv) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; (v) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity; and (vi) the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K ++ and Global Payments Inc. agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit upon request.

Filed herewith.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Global Payments Inc. (Registrant)

Date: August 3, 2017 /s/ Cameron M. Bready

Cameron M. Bready

Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)